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4
5
6
7
8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
9 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
10
11 | DEBRA LONDON, anindividual, No. 2:17-cv-00687-KIM-AC
12 Plaintiff, ORDER
13 V.
14 | WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., and DOES
1 through 10, inclusivé,
15
Defendants.
16
17
18 Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Wellsrga) moves to dismiss plaintiff Debfa
19 | London’s complaint, which chalges Wells Fargo’s attempteddalosure of London’s home.
20 | ECF No. 24. The court held a hearing on September 22, 2017. ECF No. 34. As explained
21 | below, the court GRANTS in part and DENIkESpart the motion, with leave to amend.
22 |
23 | /I
24
25 ! If defendants’ identities arunknown when the complaint is filed, plaintiffs have an
26 opportunity through discovery to identify ther@illespie v. Civiletti 629 F.2d 637, 642 (9th Cir.
1980). But the court will dismiss such unnahaefendants if discove clearly would not
27 | uncover their identities or if the complainbuld clearly be dismissed on other grountib.at
642. The federal rules also provide for disnmgainnamed defendants that, absent good cayse,
28 | are not served within 90 days of the complaint. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(m).
1
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l. BACKGROUND

This case arises out of Wells Fargo’s gdld failure to credit London for paymer
on her home loan, which resulted in Wellsdeaseeking to foreclose on London’s honsee
Compl. 1 1, ECF No. 1.

London owns real property in San JoagGiounty (the Property), which is her
principal and family residence. Compl. 11 7, 22. On June 30, 2009, she entered into a L0
Modification Agreement with Wells Fgo (the Modification Agreement)d. § 23. After
missing several loan payments, London succesdildly for bankruptcy in January 2, 2011d.
1 24. She made her final bangtcy payment on January 14, 205, 25, and then made four
post-bankruptcy monthly payments to her Ios&lls Fargo branch between February 26 and
May 31, 2016.1d. 11 26—-29. On June 30, 2016, her local Wedlgo representative refused tq
accept her fifth paymentd. § 30. Wells Fargo “failed to prale a notice in writing explaining
the reasons it would not accept London’s June, 2016 paymient.”

Over the next six months, Wells gar“provided a number of contradictory
messages about the status of” London’s Iddn{ 31. On the October 31, 2016 monthly
mortgage statement, Wells Fargo stated Londoas “had been referred to foreclosuréd:

1 32. On November 18, 2016, Wells Fargo direatgather company “to file a Notice of Defau
with the County-Clerk Recoed,” stating the amount owed “as of November 17, 2016 was
$63,002.22.”1d. 1 33. On March 1, 2017, Wells Fargo sthiled a trustee sale for April 5, 201
Id. § 34. For months, London asked Wells Fargoaiwect its error and accept payments undé
the Modification Agreement, but to no avaitl. § 35. After London filed suit, the parties
stipulated to a stay of foreclosure, andc¢bart enjoined Wells Fargo from transferring any
ownership interest or engagingany foreclosure action duringelpendency of this suit. ECF
Nos. 21, 23.

London asserts the following claims agamatlls Fargo: (1) breach of contract
(2) promissory estoppel; (3) California’s Homewaws Bill of Rights (‘HBOR?”) violations; (4)

Rosenthal Fair Debt Collectiodst violations; (5) Equal Cred®pportunity Act violations; and
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(6) California’s Unfair Competition Law violationsSeeCompl. §§ 36—-81. London has
requested injunctive relief, specifierformance, damages and restitutitch.at 14, 1 1-9.

Wells Fargo moves to dismiss the entire compla8geMot. to Dismiss, ECF
No. 24. Wells Fargo contends tbeurt lacks jurisdiction over &first five claims and that
London has inadequately pleaded misithree, four, five and siXxGee idat 4-13. London
opposes the motion (Opp’n), ECF No. 29, and Wedlggo has filed a repl Reply, ECF No. 32.
Il. JUDICIAL NOTICE AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Both parties ask the court to consiéeets and documents beyond the complaint.

“The court may judicially notice act that is not subject t@asonable dispute because it (1) ig
generally known within the territorial jurisdictioar (2) can be accurately and readily determi
by trial courts from sources whose accuracyncameasonably be questioned.” Fed. R. Evid.
201(b). A court shall take judalinotice if requested by a padpnd supplied with the necessar
information. Fed. R. Evid. 201(c)(2). Judicially noticed facts often consist of matters of pu
record. See, e.gEmrich v. Touche Ross & C&46 F.2d 1190, 1198 (9th Cir. 1988).
Additionally, under the “incorporation by referenaictrine, the court may take into account
documents “whose contents are alleged in a ta@intpand whose authenticity no party questio
but which are not physically attachtxthe [plaintiff's] pleading.”In re Silicon Graphics Inc.
Sec. Litig.,183 F.3d 970, 986 (9th Cir. 1998)perseded by statute on other roufmisoting
Branch v. Tunnelll4 F.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir. 19943lteration in original).

Courts may judicially notice facts of publiecord in a judicial or administrative
proceeding that “direct[ly] relat[e¢b the matters at issue,” suchthe existence of a motion or ¢
representations made thereldnited States v. Southe@ulifornia Edison Cq.300 F. Supp. 2d
964, 973 (E.D. Cal. 2004) (quotitgnited States ex rel. RobinsBancheria Citizens Council v.
Borneo, Inc. 971 F.2d 244, 248 (9th Cir. 1992)). Bl court may not judicially notice
arguments, disputed facts or legal intetptions from those public proceedindg. at 974.

A. London’s Request

London asks the court to consider daeted copy of a loan modification

application attached as Exhibit 1 to the comglaidompl., Ex. 1. Wells Fargo does not objec
3

—+

ned

blic

Df

[ to




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N RN N N N N DN R P R R R R R R R
0w ~N o s W N P O O 0 N O 0N~ W N kP o

London’s request. Because ExhibisTeferred to in the complaint, forms the basis of London’s

claims, and its authenticity et reasonably in question, tbeurt grants the request.

B. Wells Fargo’s Request

Wells Fargo requests the court judilgianotice the following 11 exhibitseeECF
No. 24-1:

(A) Deed of Trust dated June 6, 208&ned by London, and recorded in the
official records of the San Joaquin CouRtgcorder’s Office on June 13, 2006, as DOC # 200
127965.

(B) Certificate of Corporate Existeaclated April 21, 2006, issued by the Office

of Thrift Supervision, Department of the Treasury (“OTS”), certifying that World Savings B
FSB, was a federal savings bank.

(C) Letter dated November 19, 2007, oe kbtterhead of the OTS authorizing a
name change from World Savings Bank, FSB to Wachovia Mortgage, FSB (“Wachovia”).

(D) Charter of Wachovia Mortgage, F§BVachovia”), effective December 31,
2007, and signed by the Director of the OTS, réifigcin Section 4 thatVachovia was subject t
the Home Owner’s Loan Act (“‘HOLA”) and the OTS.

(E) Official Certification of the Comptrtdr of the Currency stating that effective
November 1, 2009, Wachovia converted to Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., which ther
merged with and into Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

(F) Federal Deposit Insurance Corporat{tfDIC”) website printout showing the
history of World Savings Bank, FSB andtitansition to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

(G) Chapter 13 Bankruptcy PetitioroN11-20148 filed on January 2, 2011, in
United States Bankruptcy Court, $farn Districtof California.

(H) Order Approving Settlement betweere tnited States Trustee Program an
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. in Bankruptcy 8&aNo. 11-33377 filed on November 19, 2015, in

United States Bankruptcy Cou@entral District of Maryland.
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(1) Wells Fargo’s Response to Notice of Final Cure Payment in Bankruptcy C
No. 11-20148-D-13 filed on March 10, 2016 in Unitedt& Bankruptcy CourEastern District
of California.

(J) Notice of Default dated NovemhEr, 2016, and recorded in the official
records of the San Joaquin County ReedsdOffice on November 18, 2016 as DOC # 2016-
143125.

(K) Notice of Trustee’s Sale dated Mhr8, 2017, and recorded in the official
records of the San Joaquin County ReedsdOffice on March 6, 2017 as DOC # 2017-02620

London objects to judiciallpoticing Exhibits G, H, 1) and K, arguing, “[C]ourts
may not judicially notice disputed factual assersidrom separate proceedings.” ECF No. 30
3; see Lee v. City of L.A250 F.3d 668, 690 (9th Cir. 200dyerruled on other
grounds Galbraith v. Cty. of Santa Clar&07 F.3d 1119, 1125-26 (9th Cir. 2002).

Exhibits G, H and | are public record$he court may judicially notice that they
exist. See Robinson Rancher@/1 F.2d at 24&ey’s Pasta Bella, LLC v. Visa USA, Inc.
442 F.3d 741, 746 n.6 (9th Cir. 2006). But the counhogjudicially noticehe facts or opinions
recited within them.See Leg250 F.3d at 690 (“[W]hen a court takes judicial notice of anothg
court’s opinion, it may do so ‘not for the truth oétfacts recited therein, bfdr the existence of
the opinion, which is not subject to reaable dispute oversitauthenticity.”);Sokolsky v.
Rostron No. CIV S-07-1002 GEB KJM P, 2009 WA705881, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 25, 2009)
(findings and recommendationggopted No. 2:07-cv-1002-&B-KJM P, 2009 WL 3241626
(E.D. Cal. Sept. 30, 2009) (“While the materiiemselves are propersubject to judicial
notice, this court cannot take ra#iof the truth of the facts reaitén the court’s opinion or of
disputed facts outlined during the proceedings on remand.”).

Judicial notice also is apmpriate of Exhibits A, J and K because these docums
too are a matter of public recor@eelLeg 250 F.3d at 68Fimbres v. Chapel Mortgage Corp.
No. 09-CV-0886-IEG (POR), 2009 WL 4163332, *3@SCal. Nov. 20, 2009) (taking judicial
notice of deed of trust, notice défault, notice of trustee’s sakssignment of deed of trust ang

substitution of trustee becausach was a public recordMoreover, London refers to the
5
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contents of Exhibit J in her complaint, which provides another basis for the court to consid
exhibit here.SeeCompl. § 33Marder v. Lopez450 F.3d 445, 448 (9th Cir. 2008yanch v.
Tunnell 14 F.3d 449, 453-54 (9th Cir. 1994) (documents not attached to complaint may b¢
incorporated by reference if phiff referred to document in complaint or if document forms
basis of plaintiff's claims).

As to Exhibits B through F, judicialotice is appropriate because “those
documents reflect the official acts of teeecutive branch of the United States” and the
information was “obtained from a governmental websiteréciado v. Wells Fargo Home
Mortgage No. 13-00382, 2013 WL 1899929, at *3 (N.D. Cal. May 7, 20R8)alyzed Veteran
of Am. v. McPhersqr2008 WL 4183981, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 9, 2008).

The court takes notice of Exhibits A through K.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

A party may move to dismiss for “failute state a claim upon which relief can be

granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The caugy grant the motion only if the complaint lacks

“cognizable legal theory” af its factual allegations do not support a cognizable legal theory,

Hartmann v. Cal. Dep't of Corr. & Rehagl07 F.3d 1114, 1122 (9th Cir. 2013). A complaint
must contain a “short and plain statement ofdlaén showing that the pleader is entitled to
relief,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2), though it neeot include “detailediactual allegations,Bell Atl.
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). But “sufficidattual matter” must make the cla
at least plausiblelgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Conclusory or farkaic recitations of elements do n
alone suffice.ld. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 555). In a Rule 12(b)(6) analysis, the court m
accept well-pleaded factualegations as true and construe the complaint in plaintiff's fakby.
Erickson v. Parduss51 U.S. 89, 93-94 (2007).

V. ANALYSIS

A. Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction

Wells Fargo attempts to rely on an order approving settlement in the dase of
Ernestine C.J. GreerCase No. 11-33377, in the U.S. BankrupBourt, District of Maryland, to

assert that the Maryland BankraptCourt retains exakive jurisdiction over London’s breach ¢
6
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contract, promissory estoppel, HBOR and Risal Fair Debt Collections Act claim&eeMot.
at 4-5; Ex. H to Req. for Judiciblotice (RIJN). Wells Fargo c#do paragraph 54 of the order,
which states, “The Court shall retaxclusive jurisdiction over athatters subject to this order,
including disputes arising undthis Order, construction, t@rpretation, modification and
enforcement of this Order, and shall retainlesive jurisdiction to hear and adjudicate any

motions related to this Order3eeEx. H to RIN at 17, ECF No. 24-2. London contends the

actions she alleges Wells Fargo took occuredtef the bankruptcy so the settlement order does

not apply to her complaint. Oppat 6—7 (emphasis in original).
Wells Fargo’s argument lacks merit. Jabbve the paragraph Wells Fargo cite

the Maryland court’'s $ement order states:

The scope of the matters being resdlwia this Order is limited to

the Covered Conduct. This Order does not settle, resolve, or
prejudice any other rights or alas against Wells Fargo, including
claims arising under the National Mgage Settlement pertaining to
matters other than Covered ContdudNotwithstanding any other
provision of this Orderglaims with respect tany criminal liability

are especially reserved and are not released.

SeeEx. Hto RIN at 16-17, 1 53.

The same order defines “Covered Condast'actions involvig either “[t]he

timeliness of preparing and communicating Escrow Analyses to borrowers in Bankruptcy Cases'

or different types of conduct inlxang “notice of any change ithe payment amount required to

be filed and served pursuantBankruptcy Rule 3002.1.See idat 2—-3. All forms of “Covered
Conduct” are limited to “the Relevant Radi” which is from December 1, 2011 through
March 31, 2015.See id
London’s allegations do natvolve any conduct by WellBargo between those

dates. She alleges a Wells Fargo representative refused to accept her payment at a Well
branch in June 2016 and that Wells Fargo failedotoperly credit [London’s] payments . . . .”
Compl. 11 30, 39-40. London further alleges, I/8/Eargo claims that missed monthly
payments from January to October 2016 comprises [sic] the amount due on the addount.”

1 32. Thus, the bankruptcy court’s order, byiis terms, does not govern London’s allegatic
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Wells Fargo’s reliance oHoward v. America Online Inc208 F.3d 741 (9th Cir.
2000) also is misplaced. There, the NinthcGit observed, “Plaintiffs are part of thiagen
[settlement] class and assertedritical billing claims that occurred during the same time peri
Id. at 748. Because the “[p]laintiffs’ . . . clairoge the identical billing allegations bagen”

the Ninth Circuit held “the district court praperefused to consider the billing claims” as

predicates for plaintiffs’ claimsld. at 747—-49. Unlike the plaintiffs iHoward, London does not

assert identical claims to those raised in@Gneenbankruptcy settlement involving the same
“Relevant Period”; she allegedférent conduct by Wells Fargo ogecmg at a different time.

CompareEx. H to RIN at 2—3yith Compl. 1 26-35, 39-40.

od.”

Wells Fargo’s motion to dismiss any of London’s claims based on the purported

jurisdiction of the U.SBankruptcy Court, Districof Maryland, related tin re: Ernestine C.J.
Green Case No. 11-33377, is DENIED.
B. California’s Homeowner’s Bill oRights (HBOR) (Claim 3)

London alleges Wells Fargo violated t@alifornia HBOR prowions. Compl.
19 51-53. In part, HBOR prohibits “dual tradkteclosures, whereby a mortgage servicer

continues foreclosure proceedings while reviewing a borrower’s loan modification applicat

requires a single point of contact for borromeegotiating a loan modification; and expands the

notice a servicer must provide the borrower before the mgége lender can take action on a
loan modification or pursue foreclosureueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, PR1 Cal.
App. 4th 49, 86 n.14 (2013). Two HBOR provisions alevant here. The first, California Civ

Code § 2923.55requires the mortgage servicer's délige in attempting to notify a homeown

? Repealed by Stats. 2013, c. 76 (A.B. 383), § 15, operative Jan. 1, 2018. Because
court finds London has failed to state a clairdemsection 2923.55, the codeclines to reach
the issue of the continued availability of this provision to London in light of California’s “we
settled rule that an action wholly dependent oruttadbates if the statuts repealed without a
saving clause before the judgment is finatdunger v. Super. C21 Cal. 3d 102, 109
(1978) (citations omittedseeS. Coast Reg’'|l Com. v. Gordd®4 Cal. App. 3d 612, 618—

19 (1978) (“Without a saving clause statutory continuity, a pat's rights and remedies under
statute may be enforced after repeal only where 8ghts have vested prior to repeal . . ., [an
a statutory remedy does not vest untibfijudgment[.]”) (citations omitted}ee also Alaei v.
Rockstar, InG.224 F. Supp. 3d 992, 998-99 (S.D. Cal. 2016) (applying factorsZ/ngmerer v.
Cty. of Santa Clard33 Cal. App. 4th 1013, 1023 (2009ass v. Citizens of Humanity, LL.C

8
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before recording a notice of default. efeecond provision, § 2924.17, requires accurate and
complete documents recorded or filed in anyrt be supported by “competent and reliable
evidence.” The appropriate remedlyif a trustee’s deed upon sakas not been recorded,” is
“an action for injunctive relief to enjoinraaterial violation of Section 2923.55 . . . or
2924.17.” Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.12(a){1).

Wells Fargo contends London has not peshtacts showing either violation
occurred, that either violation was materiatloat either violation caused her economic harm.
Mot. at 6—7. London contends the violationd dccur and were material because foreclosure
could be prevented if Wells Fargo complies il BOR. Opp’n at 8-9 (citations omitted). As
discussed below, London has not statexaim under either provision.

1. Section 2923.55 Claim

Section 2923.55 requires that before recuydi notice of default, a loan service
must either (1) notify the borrower; or (2)igently attempt to do so. Cal. Civ. Code
§ 2923.55(a)(2). The loan servicer must provjdgstatement that the borrower may request’
certain information, including a copy of the presory note, the deed of trust, “any assignme
.. . demonstrat[ing] the right of the mortgagevgeer to foreclosel,]” and the borrower’s payme
history. Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.55(b). This promisis not satisfied by a “declaration;” it is
satisfied only by a writing containg the proper informationld. Additionally, the servicer mus
attach a declaration stating wltaintact with the borrower the servicer made or attempted. (
Civ. Code § 2923.55(c).

London’s claim cannot survive dismissé&lirst, London has not alleged that We

Fargo failed to satisfy the due diligeneguirements set out the statute SeeCal. Civ. Code

No. 14-CV-1404 JLS (WVG), 2016 WL 7097870at(S.D. Cal. Dec. 6, 2016). London may
consider the continued availability of secti2923.55 or alternative HER provisions if she
amends her complaint.

¥ Amended by Stats. 2014, c. 401 (A.B. 2763), § 7, eff. Jan. 1, 2015, operative Jan.
2018. Section 2924.12(a) formerly permitted empg “a material violation of Section
2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17,” but now permits enjoinin
material violation of Section 2923.5, 2923.7, 2924.11, or 2924.17.”

9
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8 2923.55(a)(2)compareCompl. § 51with Landry v. Select Portfoli®ervicing, Inc.No. 2:17-
cv-02894-ODW (GJS), 2017 WL 3614423, at *6 (CAal. Aug. 22, 2017) (“Plaintiff plainly
states in her complaint th&&PS did not adequately conductrgguired due diligence prior to
filing [the Notice of Default].”). London allegewerely that Wells Fargo “fail[ed] to provide
notice to” London. Compl.  51. Because “[t|hreadb&citals of the eiments of a cause of
action, supported by mere conclugsstatements, do not sufficdgbal, 556 U.S. at 678, Londor,
has failed to plead a claim under section 2923.55.

Second, even if London had pleadeddation, London has not pleaded the

violation was material, as is required to obtajanctive relief. Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1).

In other words, London has not “show[n] that fdJedants’ alleged violain affected her ability
to avoid foreclosure,” or “that [dfendants thwarted her ability to be considered for foreclosu

alternatives in violaon of section 2923.55.Landry, 2017 WL 3614423, at *&ee also

Kirkpatrick v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.AMNo. SACV1600074CJCKESX016 WL 7496757, at *2

(C.D. Cal. June 28, 2016) (“Withgard to the HBOR, courts hairgerpreted the term ‘materia

to refer to whether the violatiaffected the loan modification press.”). For this reason as we

London has not stated a claim under § 2923.55.

Wells Fargo has also asserted Londatésm fails because she has not pleadeg
economic harm, citin@olbert v. Sage Point Lender Services, |LNO. 1:14-cv-01626-LJO-JLT]
2014 WL 7409291, at *7 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 30, 201M)ot. at 6-7. There, the court stated
“[p]laintiff must allege actual economic hatmstate a claim pursuant to [§ 2924.12(a)].”
Colbert 2014 WL 7409291, at *7. Howevelplbertrelies orHeflebower v. JPMorgan Chase
Bank, NANo. 1:12-cv-1671 AWI SMS, 2014 WL 89735#,*12-13 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 6, 2014),
case that addressed a claim urgl@924.12(b). Section 2924.12(Ilppdies “[a]fter a trustee’s
deed upon sale has been recorded” and permaitsailwt to “award the borrower the greater of
treble actual damages or statutoryndges of fifty thousand dollars.”

Here, a trustee sale has not ocalur&hus, § 2924.12(a), which provides only
injunctive relief, appliesThe court disagrees with ti@lbertcourt that § 2924.12(a), which

does not permit a damages award, requires a pfamplead economic harm. Instead, the co
10
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agrees with other courgldressing pleading standatasler § 2924.12(a) for other HBOR
claims. See Chaghouri v. Wells Fargo Bank, N)o. 14-cv-01500-YGR, 2015 WL 65291, at
*3 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2015) (“|[Bction 2924.12(a)’s enactment géveorrowers a right to obtain
injunctive relief based upon vidlan of section 2924.17 regardlessany showing of pecuniary
harm.”); Rahbarian v. JP Morgan Chasio. 2:14-cv-01488 JAM-KJN, 2014 WL 5823103, at
*7 (E.D. Cal. Nov. 10, 2014) (“The Court holds . . attfPlaintiff need not plead harm to make
claim under section 2924.12(a) fovialation of section 2924.17.").

2. Section 2924.17 Claim

Section 2924.17 requires “a notice of default, [or] notice of sale . . . be accur

and complete and supported by competent anabtelevidence.” Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.17(a).

“[A] mortgage servicer shall eare that it has reviewed competent and reliable evidence to
substantiate the borrower’s defaaittd the right to foreclose, inming the borrower’s loan staty
and loan information.” Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 2924.17(b).

London’s claim under this section also cannot survive dismissal. She allege
“[Wells Fargo] violated section 2924.17 by failinggobstantiate [London’s] default and [Wells
Fargo’s] right to foreclose, when there isbasis to do so.” Compl. § 52. Again, London mer
recites statutory language without any rsseey support “by factual allegationddgbal, 556 U.S.
at 679;see Johnson v. PNC MortdNo. C 14-02976 LB, 2014 WL 3962662, at *13 (N.D. Cal.
Aug. 12, 2014) (“District courts have routinelylthéhat conclusory [§ 2924.17] allegations are
insufficient without some faatl support.”) (citing casesBaldoza v. Bank of Am., N.A .,
No. C-12-05966 JCS, 2013 WL 978268, at *13 (Ndal. Mar. 12, 2013) (dismissing § 2924.1
claim where plaintiff alleged,dh information and belief, [thalluradyan, a known robo-signer

was not an employee of MERS but eetl was employed by Defendant BOA”).

London also does not allege a “materialation” of section 2924.17, as required

to obtain the injunctive relief provided by seecti2924.12(a)(1). Although she need not plead
Wells Fargo contends, any pecuniary harm,mshset at least plead that § 2924.17 violations

prevented her from avoiding Welsargo’s initiating foreclosureSee Chaghouri2015 WL
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65291, at *3Rahbarian 2014 WL 5823103, at * 7. Londondhaot stated a claim under
§2924.17.

The court DISMISSES London’s HBOR claim, but with leave to amend as
explained below.

C. California’s Rosenthal Fair Debt Cedtion Practices Act Claim (Claim 4)

London alleges Wells Fargo violated Calif@’'s Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection

Practices Act (Rosenthal Ac@alifornia Civil Code § 1788. Compl. {1 57. Specifically, London

alleges “Wells Fargo made a false, deceptvenisleading representation to [London] when i

represented to [London], that[ifondon] made the Modification Agreement monthly payments to

Wells Fargo, Wells Fargo would not attempttdlect on the original amount due under the
promissory note or initial [s]Jdoreclosure proceedingsfd. § 58. London also alleges “Wells
Fargo used unfair or unconscionable means fteatar attempt to collect any debt when it
attempted to collect on the original amount dader the promissory note, including taking
nonjudicial action to effect dissession, after compliance witte Modification Agreement.”

Id. 1 59.

The Rosenthal Act “is designed to proteshsumers from unfair and abusive debt

collection practices.’Robinson v. Managed Accounts Receivable C6fa F. Supp. 2d 1051,
1060 (C.D. Cal. 2009) (citing Cal. Civ. Code § 1788Cglbert v. Sage Point Lender Services
No. 1:14-CV-01626-LJO, 2014 WL 7409291, at *4 (E@al. Dec. 30, 2014). The Rosenthal
Act incorporates provisions tie Federal Fair Debt Colleah Practices Act (FDCPA), 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1692, which prohibits debt collectonoth making false or misleading representatio
and from engaging in varioudasive and unfair practicesHeintz v. Jenking14 U.S. 291, 292
(1995);Donohue v. Quick Collect, IncG92 F.3d 1027, 1030 (9th Cir. 2010). Thus, conduct |
debt collector that violates the FDCRlates the Rosenthal Act as weBee Riggs v. Prober &
Raphael 681 F.3d 1097, 1100 (9th Cir. 2012) (findiwhether communication “violates the
Rosenthal Act turns on whethéwriolates the FDCPA”).

Wells Fargo contends London has fdil¢o allege any conduct beyond non-

judicial foreclosure,” and the Rosenthal Act doesapgly to non-judicial feeclosure. Mot. at
12
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8-9. London asserts that “collection activity relatechtalification agreements is debt collection

covered by the Rosenthal Act.” Opp’n at 1 discussed below, London does not sufficient
plead this claim.

Although Wells Fargo, as the original lendgualifies as a debt collector under
Rosenthal Act, the Rosenthal Act applies onWills Fargo’s debt collection activities excee
the scope of the ordinafgreclosure procesfReyes v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.No. C-10-01667
JCS, 2011 WL 30759, at *19 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 3, 20Mgt London’s factual allegations for this
claim refer to “initiafting] faeclosure proceedings” and Wellargo’s “taking nonjudicial action
to effect dispossession,” Compl. {1 58-59, which kumaa of the ordinaryoreclosure process,
SeeBarria v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.ANo. 2:15-CV-01413-KJMAC, 2016 WL 474319, at *6
(E.D. Cal. Feb. 8, 2016) (finding allegationkét defendant violated the Rosenthal Act by
‘intentionally fail[ing] to contact [p]laintiffs taliscuss foreclosure altetnges prior to recording
a NOD,’ ‘filling] a Declaration of Compliance thédlsely asserted that they had diligently
attempted to contact [p]laintiffs,” and ‘attemptitaycollect interest, fee®r other charges from
[p]laintiffs that are not expresshuthorized by the agreement or otherwise permitted by law]
plead actions that are all “re¢at to the execution of the nonjaidl foreclosure process”).
London’s generalized allegations that “Wellsgamade a false, deceptive, or misleading
representation” and that “Wells Fargo used unfair or unconscnaddns to collect or attemp
to collect any debt,” Compl. B-59, are insufficiently detailed tpve Wells Fargo fair notice
of any wrongful actsSee Twomb/y\550 U.S. at 558arria, 2016 WL 474319, at *6.

London’s fourth claim for violations dhe Rosenthal Act is DISMISSED, but
with leave to amend.

D. Equal Credit Opportunity Act Claim (Claim 5)

London alleges that Wells Fargo violatideé Equal Credit Opportunity Act
(ECOA), 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(2), when “Wells amrevoked [her] credit when it failed to acct
[London’s] June, 2016 payment in accordance withModification Agreement.” Compl.

19 66-70. According to London, Wells Fargo’s “fadluo provide Londomwith a statement of
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reasons for the action taken on application forickeithin 30 days fronthe revocation of credit
in June 2016 violates ECOAW. § 71.

ECOA “makes it illegal ‘for any creditor tdiscriminate against any applicant,

with respect to any aspect of a credit transacti. . on the basis of race, color, religion, national

origin, sex or marital status or age3chlegel v. Wells Fargo Bank20 F.3d 1204, 1210 (9th
Cir. 2013) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a)(1)). vakevant here, ECOA also requires that “[e]ac
applicant against whom adverse auntis taken shall be entitled to a statement of reasons for
action from the creditor.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1691(d)(2n “adverse action” is a “denial or revocati(
of credit, a change in the terms of existing @dractangement, or a refusal to grant credit in
substantially the amount or on stdogtially the terms igquested.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6). Wh
a creditor fails to give the required notice it an adverse action, tapplicant may sue for g
violation of ECOA. Schlegel 720 F.3d at 1210.

Although the Ninth Circuit irSchlegeldid not explicitly state that ECOA’s noticg
provisions are distinct from the anti-discrimimatiprovisions, courts ithe Ninth Circuit have
found the notice provisions can give rise tdam even with no accompanying discrimination
claims. Errico v. Pac. Capital Bank, N.A753 F. Supp. 2d 1034, 1042 (N.D. Cal. 20M3squez
v. Bank of America, N.ANo. 13-cv-02902-JST, 2013 WL 80924, at *11 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 12,
2013). This reading is supported by the regutationplementing ECOA, which provide in par
“The regulation prohibits creditqractices that discriminate on the basis of any of these [list
factors. The regulation alsoqures creditors to notify apphnts of action taken on their
applications . . ..” 12 C.F.R. 8§ 202.1(bge also Vasque2013 WL 6001924, at *11 (“The

Federal Reserve regulations implementing ECOAeapfo have two distinct requirements: a |

on discrimination in lending and a separate s@rotedural notice and response requirements.

Schlegel 720 F.3d at 1210 (referring to proceduraicetequirements as “[o]ne way the ECO
effectuates” the goal of preventing disemation by creditors against applicants).

Courts have found applicatiofsr loan modifications tbe applicatns for credit
under ECOA.See, e.g., Vasquez013 WL 6001924, at *13 (“[T]he Federal Reserve has opif

that loan modification requests under the Daparit of Treasury’s Mang Home Affordable
14
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Modification Program (“HAMP”) do qualify as ‘crétdapplications’ under ECOA, and that loar
modifications outside the HAMP should be analyzed using the same factors.”).

Wells Fargo contends that London’sfshquency under the terms of the
Modification Agreement” prevents the ECOA notreguirements triggering ilight of 15 U.S.C.
8§ 1691(d)(6) and 12 C.F.R. § 202.2(c)(2)(i)). Mait10. Section 1691(d)(6) explicitly states t
the term “adverse action” does not include “a rdftsaxtend additional credit under an existi
credit arrangement where the applicant is delintjaentherwise in default . . . .” Regulations
implementing ECOA also state that the termvierse action” does not include “[a]ny action or
forbearance relating to an accourkieta in connection with inactiwit default, or delinquency as
to that account.” 12 C.F.R. 8§ 202.2(c)(2)(ii).

The court rejects Wells Fargo’s arguméattthree reasons. First, London’s
allegations that Wells Fargo refused her J@@g 2016 payment and initiated foreclosure
proceedings coincides more closely with “reatian of credit” under section 1691(d)(6), a typs
of adverse action, than with “a refusal tae:nd additional credit under an existing credit
arrangement.” Second, whether London is dgient or in default is disputed factual
contention not properly resolves a motion to dismiss. Takirtlge allegations as true, Londorj
was not delinquent or in defaulteeCompl.  26-30.

Third, Wells Fargo’s position runs counteramntrolling Ninth Circuit authority.
In Schlegel 720 F.3d at 1206, the Ninth Circuit faced $agtite similar to those alleged here.
The plaintiffs there had obtained a loan, Behind on their mortgage payments and filed a
petition in bankruptcyld. Wells Fargo proposed a loan dgiftccation agreement, which the
bankruptcy court approvedd. The plaintiffs received bankruptcy dischargdd. Wells Fargo
then sent a default notice to plaintiffs, indiogtithe loan “was ‘in detat for failure to make
payments due.”ld. The plaintiffs “contacted Wells Fargahich ‘told them not to worry, to sit
tight and to proceed with the loan modificationld. Despite the plainis’ making the required
monthly payments and their regged inquiry about the stato§the modification agreement,
Wells Fargo sent five default notices “threatg) to commence foreclosure proceedings unles

full payment was made.Id. at 1206—07. The Ninth Circuit held that Wells Fargo’s
15
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communication to plaintiffs “that it had accelerated their loan and was commencing foreclg
proceedings” was a communication tHafn its face, . . . revoked the prior credit arrangemer
Id. at 1211. Although Wells Fargo had assertbdt‘its acceleration dhe loan was an
unintentional error, . . . such agsens do not erase its prior rexamn of credit for purposes of
ECOA.” Id.

Here, London alleges she entered into a Loan Modification Agreement with
Fargo, filed a bankruptcy petitioopmpleted a bankruptcy paymgatan and then continued to
make payments directly to Wells Fargo befd refused her June 2016 payment. Compl.
19 25-30. Unde$chlegelLondon has alleged that Wellsrga took the adverse action of

revoking her credit arrangemenitinout proper notice under ECOAeed. 1 66—71;

Schrupp v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.Alo. 2:16-00636 WBS KJN, 2016 WL 3753326, at *8 (E.D.

Cal. July 13, 2016) (“Despite Wells Fargo’'seadion that the ECOAoes not apply because
plaintiff was in default, plaintiff has sufficientlglleged that the modéd loan agreement cured
his prior default and he was current os payments under the modified loancgmpareCompl.
11 25-30with Vasquez2013 WL 6001924, at *12 (observing “[phtiff alleges that she had ng¢
been making her monthly payments for monthsd gt]his would appear to bar her claim”).

Wells Fargo’s citation t&erryman v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.Xo.
116CV00643LJOSKO, 2016 WL 4441210 8t(E.D. Cal. Aug. 23, 2016@rder clarified
No. 116CV00643LJOSKO, 2016 WL 6124209 (E.D. @xit. 19, 2016), does not alter this
analysis. IfPerryman “[p]laintiff concedes he was in default at the time he submitted his lo
modification application.”ld. London disputes that she isvaas in default or delinquent on he
payments under the Loan Modification Agreement.

Wells Fargo’s motion to dismiss Londoriith claim for violation of ECOA is
DENIED.

E. Unfair Competition Law Claim (Claim 6)

Wells Fargo moves to dismiss Londsninfair competition law (UCL) claim,
contending she lacks standing and lentified no fraudulent, unfaor unlawful practice. Mot.

at 10-12.
16
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1. Standing

To have standing under California's UCLaiptiffs must “(1) establish a loss or
deprivation of money or propertyféigient to qualify as injury irfact, i.e., economic injury, and
(2) show that the economic injury the resaflti.e., caused by, the wf business practice or
false advertising that is the gravamen of the claiKwikset Corp. v. Superior Coud1 Cal. 4th
310, 322 (2011) (emphasis removed).

The economic injury must be sufficientdonstitute an “injury in fact” under
Article Il of the Constittion, and the requisite injury must ten invasion of a legally protecte
interest which is (a) concrete and particulatizznd (b) actual or imment, not conjectural or
hypothetical.” Birdsong v. Apple, Inc590 F.3d 955, 959-60 (9th Cir. 2009) (citBgckland v.
Threshold Enters., Ltd155 Cal. App. 4th 798, 814 (2007)). Kwikset the court identified four

injuries that would qualify asconomic injury under the UCL.:

(1) surrender in a transaction mooe,acquire in a transaction less,
than he or she otherwise wouldvka(2) have a msent or future
property interest diminished; (3) loeprived of money or property
to which he or she has a cognizablaim; or (4) be required to
enter into a transaction, cogjirmoney or property, that would
otherwise have been unnecessary.

51 Cal. 4th at 323.

After establishing loss, a plaintiff mustiow a “causal connection” between the
economic injury and the alleged unfair condudt.at 326. A plaintiff cannashow causation if
she would have suffered “the same harm whether or not a defendant complied with the
law.” Daro v. Superior Courtl51 Cal. App. 4th 1079, 1099 (2003&e, e.gJenkins v. JP
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A216 Cal. App. 4th 497, 523 (2013)o(causal relations exist where
plaintiff's default triggered freclosure and not defdant’s action, though impending foreclosu
is an adequate economic injury).

Here, London pleads an injury in fact. London alleges, “[a]s a direct and
proximate result of Defendant’s unlawfuldaunfair business practices, [London] has been
injured in fact and have [sic] lost money ooperty due to the foreclage of her residence.”

Compl. § 78see Barria 2016 WL 474319, at *7. Loss ofqperty alone, an economic injury,
17
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satisfies the first prong of the stding requirement under the UCKee Kwikset1 Cal. 4th at
323.

London also alleges a causal conr@ctietween Wells Fargo’s initiating
foreclosing proceedings and the harm sufferea i@sult of Wells Fargo’s allegedly unlawful,

unfair or fraudulent business acSeeCompl. {{ 75-78. But for Wells Fargo’s allegedly

refusing to accept London’s timely payments and initiating foreclosure proceedings while lLondo

remained current under the Modification Agresi) London would not suffer the impending lpss

of her residence through foreclosure. AndfoutWells Fargo’s alleged failure to provide
sufficient notice to London under BX2, London lacked a clear written statement of reasons
Wells Fargo’s revocation of credhat would have enabledhdon to better attempt to avoid

Wells Fargo’s foreclosure proceedings. Lasindon’s allegation that Wells Fargo’s conduct

for

was fraudulent because Wells Fargo “promised to honor a permanent modification under the

Modification Agreement but failed to honor the pamant modification” is causally connected
London’s suffered harm, the foreclosym®ceedings initiated on her hom8eeCompl. § 77.

But for Wells Fargo’s alleged failure to hortbe Modification Agreemdrin light of London’s

alleged on-time payments under the Agreement, London would not suffer the impending lpss of

her residence through foreclosure. The coumlBEES Wells Fargo’s motion to dismiss the UC
claim for lack of standing.

2. Elements of a UCL Claim

Wells Fargo also moves to dismiss this claim for inadequately identifying any
“unlawful, unfair or fraudulent bus@ss act or practice,” as is required to state a claim. Mot.
10-13; Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. Cotidse construed the statute’s language as
prohibiting three distindlypes of practices: (1) unlawful gobr practices; (2) unfair acts or
practices; and (3) fraudulent acts or practidg@sl-Tech Commc’ns, Inc. v. L.A. Cellular Tel..C
20 Cal. 4th 163, 180 (1999). Here, Londone=lbn all three prongs. Opp’n at 13-15.

a) Unlawful
To allege a claim under the “unlawful’qrg, a plaintiff mustisow a violation of

some independent lavsee Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Superior CodrCal. 4th 377, 383 (1992).
18
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The predicate violation may be one ofiéeal, state, local or common lawd. (section 17200

“borrows” violations of other lawand treats them as actionabldawful practices). Because the

statute borrows violations of other laws, duii@ to state a claim under the underlying law
translates to a failure to sta& claim under the unlawful pron§ee Saunders v. Superior
Court, 27 Cal. App. 4th 832, 838-39 (1994).

Here, London alleges Wells Fargo’s conduiolated the Rosenthal Act and
ECOA. Compl. § 75. Although the court hasndissed London’s claim for violation of the
Rosenthal Act, London has successfully pleaalethim under ECOA. Thus, London states a
claim under the unlawful prong of the U®hly to the extent it relies on ECOA.

b) Unfair Acts

California courts have provided several definitions of “unfair” acts or practice

under the UCL: (1) an act or practice whefe“tonsumer injury isubstantial, is not

outweighed by any countervailing benefits to constgor to competition, and is not an injury

[72)

consumers themselves could reasonably haveledi(2) a practice that “offends an established

public policy or when the pctice is immoral, unethicabppressive, unscrupulous or
substantially injurious to consumers”; or (3) “theblic policy which is a predicate to the actio
must be ‘tethered’ to speafconstitutional, statutory segulatory provisions.’Vincent v. PNC
Mortg., Inc, No. 14-00833, 2014 WL 2766116, at *8 (E.Dl.Caine 18, 2014) (citations
omitted).

London’s allegations satisfy the second unissitest above, which is the relev
test when a consumer cites a business’s corzduenfair. By alleging that Wells Fargo was
“refusing to accept timely paymerdad initiating foreclosure proceedings against [the Prope
when [London] was current under the Modifioa Agreement,” Compl. { 76(a), London has
pleaded a business practice that offends the ppblicy of honoring contract agreements and
substantially injurious to consumers. Failurdémor loan modification agreements and initiat

foreclosure proceedings is “substantially injusda consumers” because they are threatened

with loss of their homes. Thuksondon states a claim under the unfair acts prong of the UCL.

19
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C) Fraudulent

The fraudulent prong of the UCL is “‘governbyg the reasonable consumer test’:

plaintiff may demonstrate a vation by ‘show[ing] that [reasobke] members of the public are
likely to be deceived.””Rubio v. Capital One Bank13 F.3d 1195, 1204 (9th Cir. 2010) (citat
omitted). A UCL “plaintiff need not show that be others were actually deceived or confuse
by the conduct or businepsactice in question.’'Schnall v. Hertz Corp78 Cal. App. 4th 1144,
1167 (2000). Whether a business practice is deeewill usually be a question of fact not
appropriate for decision on a motion to dismigélliams v. Gerber Products C®b52 F.3d 934,
938 (9th Cir. 2008). At the same time, anamnpractice claim grounded in fraud must be
pleaded with the particularity required Bgderal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(bYess v. Ciba-
Geigy Corp. USA317 F.3d 1097, 1103 (2003). Rule 9(lyukees a party to “state with
particularity the circumstances cdingting fraud or mistake.” lwther words, a party must stats
with particularity “the who, what, when, wheamd how” of the alleged fraudulent conduct.
Vess 317 F.3d at 1106 (quotir@ooper v. Pickettl37 F.3d 616, 627 (9th Cir. 1997)).

Here, London alleges, “[d]efendantenduct was fraudulent in that . . .
[d]efendant’s [sic] promised to honor arpenent modification under the Modification
Agreement but failed to honor the permanent incation.” Compl. § 77. London presents on
conclusory allegations of fraudulent conduct, faglto allege with particularity “the who, what,
when, where, and how” required by the heightepledding requirement of Rule 9(b). Should
London amend her complaint to include a U&4im based on fraud, she must satisfy the
requirements of Rule 9(b).

Wells Fargo’s motion to dismiss London’s UClaim is GRANTED in part as to
London’s unlawful prong claim under the Rosenthetl and her fraudulent prong claim. But
because London successfully pleads an unlawful prong UCL claim based on ECOA and a
prong UCL claim, the remainder of Wells Faigmotion to dismiss London’s UCL claim is

DENIED.
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F. LEAVE TO AMEND

London asks for leave to amend her complaint if the court grants Wells Farg
motion to dismiss. Opp’n at 16. Courts “shoukeklly give leave when justice so requires.” H
R. Civ.P. 15(a)(2). “This policy is to bapplied with extreme liberality. Eminence Capital,
LLC v. Aspeon, Inc316 F.3d 1048, 1051 (9th Cir. 2003) (citation and quotation marks omit
Before granting leave, a cowdnsiders any potential bad faittelay or futility regarding the

proposed amendment, and the potemtiejudice to the opposing partifoman v. Davis371

U.S. 178, 182 (1962)ee also Smith v. Pac. Props. & Dev. Cpg%8 F.3d 1097, 1101 (9th Cir|

2004). “The party opposing amendment Bahe burden of showing prejudiceDCD
Programs, Ltd. v. Leightor833 F.2d 183, 187 (9th Cir. 1987). Ahserejudice, there is a strof
presumption in favor of granting leave to ame&thinence Capital316 F.3d at 1052.

Here, this is London’s first complainConsidering Rule 15(a)’s liberal
amendment policy, and that Wells Fargo igasitified no undue praglice caused by allowing
amendment, the court GRANTS London leave to anterndire the issuesedtified above as to
each dismissed claim, if possible subject tddfal Rule of Civil Procedure 11. The amended
complaint is due within 21 days.

V. CONCLUSION

Wells Fargo’s motion to dismiss is GRITED as to London’s third claim for
Homeowner’s Bill of Rights violations (California Civil Code sections 2923.55 and 2924.17
London'’s fourth claim for Rosenthal Fair Deébollection Practices Act violations, London’s
unlawful prong UCL claim relying on the Raghal Act, and London’s fraudulent prong UCL
claim. The remainder of Wells Fargo’s mottondismiss is DENIED. The court grants Londg
LEAVE TO AMEND her complaint wittn 21 days of this orderpasistent with the requiremer
of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

DATED: January 29, 2018. M
UNIT

ATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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